### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner Derek E. Gronquist is the plaintiff/appellant in the lawsuit below.

# B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Mr. Gronquist seeks review of the Court of Appeals opinion entered in <u>Derek E. Gronquist v.</u> <u>Department of Corrections</u>, COA No. 42774-5-II, on October 29, 2013. The decision is attached at Appendix A. Reconsideration was denied on December 9, 2013. Appendix B.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

1. Whether RCW 42.56.565(1) overrules the holding in <u>Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims</u>, 152 Wn.2d 421, 98 P.3d 463 (2004), to grant courts discretion to reduce the penalty period for a violation of the Public Records Act?

2. Did the Department of Corrections conduct a reasonable search for undocumented alien labor records under the Public Records Act, by denying the existence of records after making a telephone call to an official who falsely claimed that "offenders are not identified by citizenship"?

3. Can the Department of Corrections establish that video surveillance recordings capturing the involvement of Correctional Officers

in an assault upon an inmate contain "specific intelligence information" the non-disclosure of which is "esstential to effective law enforcement" under RCW 42.56.240(1), through generalized claims about the surveillance system, and never locating, reviewing, or retaining the records requested?

4. Does a complaint alleging that Department of Corrections officials subject public records to a prior restraint censorship state a claim under the Free Speech clause of the State Constitution?

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This case concerns two Public Records Act (PRA) requests made to the Department of Corrections (DOC or Department).

## 1. Undocumented Alien Employment Records.

Mr. Gronquist witnessed an increase in DOC's use of undocumented alien labor in Class II Correctional Industries.<sup>1</sup> CP 354-355. To determine if DOC's use of undocumented alien labor violated the Immigration Reform and Constrol Act,<sup>2</sup> he made a PRA to DOC for:

<sup>1</sup> "Class II Industries" are state owned businesses operated for the benefit of governmental agencies and nonprofit organizations. RCW 72.09.100(2).

1. All Department of Corrections (DOC) inmate identification badges/cards<sup>3</sup> from undocumented alien workers<sup>4</sup> employed by DOC's Class II Industries from January 1, 2004, to today's date.

2. All records demonstrating the payment of any wages, gratuities, or other form of payment,<sup>5</sup> to undocumented alien workers employed by the DOC's Class II Industries from January 1, 2004, to today's date.

<sup>2</sup> The Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA) prohibits employment of illegal aliens, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, and requires employers to verify the identity, citizenship, and eligibility for employment of all new hires. 8 U.S.C. 1324a(b). Employers who violate IRCA are subject to civil fines and criminal prosecution. 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(4)(A) & (5), and 1324a(f)(1).

<sup>3</sup>Identification cards are created under DOC Policy 400.025, which states: "Offenders housed in Department facilities will be issued an ID card," who "will wear them so that they are visible at all times." CP 151 §§ II(C) & VI(A). Identification cards are used to "[c]lock offenders in and out of CI to track offender movement for pay and security purposes." CP 153.

<sup>4</sup> "Undocumented alien worker" means any person who is not a United States citizen and who does not possess a current and valid work permit or similar document authorizing such persons to be employed in the United States. CP 197. DOC has never disputed that it uses undocumented alien labor in Class II Industries. Compare CP 354-356 with CP 295-311 & 137-143.

<sup>5</sup> Inmates working in Class II Industries receive pay for their labor. RCW 72.09.100(2); RCW 72.09.111(4); & CP 392. That compensation is documented "in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles." CP 393 § III(A)(1). DOC deposits pay in a Trust Account. CP 398 § I(E). Policy 200.000 requires the deposit to "be . . recorded in the Trust Accounting System." CP 398 § III(A); CP 167. 3. All records revealing internal DOC communications and/or deliberations concerning the use of undocumented alien workers in DOC's Industries program regardless of class.<sup>6</sup> This third request seeks all records in existence on this subject.

CP 196-197.

The request was received by Michael Holthe, who had just been temporarily assigned as the Public Disclosure Coordinator for the Clallam Bay Corrections Center (CBCC). CP 199 & 247. Mr. Holthe's only effort to locate responsive records was to call CBCC's Correctional Industries Manager, who responded: "[o]ffenders are not identified by their citizenship,<sup>7</sup> nor is it a part of the employment process." CP 359. Based upon that statement, Holthe suspended his search and sent Gronquist a letter stating:

> Per the Correctional Industries Manager at Clallam Bay Corrections Center, Offenders are not identified by their citizenship, nor is it a part of the employment process.

<sup>6</sup>DOC's Correctional Industries has five classes of work programs. RCW 72.09.100.

<sup>7</sup>Policy 330.700 provides: "The Department will identify offenders who are citizens of other nations...." CP 415. Identification of citizenship occurs upon DOC's reception of an inmate. Id. CP 199.

Mr. Gronquist complained about the lack of response to his request, to which Holthe replied:

If you not agree with the decision made by this office that there are no documents responsive to your request, you may appeal the decision to: Kay Wilson-Kirby, Appeals Officer, P.O. Box 41114, Olympia, WA 98504.

CP 201 & 203.

Gronquist filed this lawsuit. CP 435-439. The superior court ordered DOC to show cause, in pertinent part, why:

> 1. A full and complete search for records responsive to Plaintiff's July 30, 2007, public records request should not be compelled; [and]

> 2. Disclosure of all records requested by Plaintiff's July 30, 2007, public records request should not be compelled[.]

CP 326-327.

DOC responded that "[b]ecause inmates are not employees of or employed by the Department,<sup>8</sup> Mr. Gronquist's requests, by its language and defined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Class II Industries workers are DOC employees. <u>National Electrical Constractors</u> <u>Association v. Riveland</u>, 138 Un.2d 9, 27. 978 P.2d 481 (1991)(admitting "Class II inmates ... are deemed employees because of their coverage under industrial insurance.). Policy 710.400 is titled "Correctional Industries Class II Employment," and states "[e]mployment in Correctional Industries Class II is voluntary for offenders.").

terms seeks records that do not exist." CP 134-136 & 304. Based upon that statement, the superior court held that responsive records did not exist. CP 125-126.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding "there were no identifiable records matching Gronquist's request," and Mr. Gronquist did not challenge DOC's search below. Opinion at 13-15.

#### 2. Assault and Extortion Attempt Records.

On June 17, 2007, a CBCC officer unlocked Mr. Gronquist's Pod and Cell door for an inmate to assault him as he slept as part of an extortion plot. CP 357. To identify the officer and gather evidence, Mr. Gronquist made a PRA request to DOC for, in pertinenet part:

> All documents created in response to, or because of, this incident;
> . . .
> 4. The surveillance video of C-unit from 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. on June 17, 2007;

5. The surveillance video of the chow hall used for C-unit inmates on June 17, 2007; . . [and]

9. The complete Internal Investigations file[.]

#### CP 205-206.

DOC responded by informing Gronquist that it will take up to 40 business days "to <u>review and</u> <u>assemble</u> the documentation requested...." CP 369-370 & 376 (emphasis added). On September 24, 2007, Mr. Gronquist was notified that records had been assembled, and would be mailed to him upon payment of \$23.80. CP 378.

Upon receipt of payment, Mr. Holthe mailed the records to Gronquist at the Stafford Creek Corrections Center (SCCC). CP 378 & 382. Included with the records was a document stating that video surveillance recordings were exempt under RCW 42.56.420(2). CP 383. SCCC's Mail Room intercepted the records and refused to permit Gronquist to receive 39 pages of documents and 11 photographs. CP 324. Upon receipt of the remaining records, Gronquist discovered that part of an Internal Investigations report had been withheld without a claim of exemption. CP 358.

These actions were joined with this lawsuit. DOC's Answer "further alleged" that surveillance recordings were exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1). CP 432. As a defense, DOC claimed it "acted in good faith <u>in responding to</u> Plaintiff's public disclosure requests . . . [and] any documents not produced were withheld under <u>lawfully cited</u> exemptions." CP 432-433 (emphasis added). Gronquist amended his complaint to include a claim

for injunctive relief against DOC's censorship of records sent through the mail under Const. Article I, Section 5. CP 319-325.

After this lawsuit was served, Mr. Holthe disclosed the withheld portion of the Internal Investigation report. CP 227 & 358. About the same time, CBCC officials and representatives from the Attorney General's Office had several conversations<sup>9</sup> regarding whether the surveillance recordings had been searched for, located, reviewed, and secured in response to Mr. Gronquist's request. CP 67-71. Officials were unable to locate any records indicating that a search had been done, and no copy of the recordings was placed in the public records file as required by DOC policy. CP 62-67. The only determination made was that the surveillance recordings had been destroyed. CP 69-70.

On July 17, 2009, the superior court ordered DOC to show cause, in pertinenet part, why:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Neither Mr. Gronquist nor the superior court were informed about these conversations or the facts they revealed.

3. Disclosure of video surveillance recordings by Plaintiff's August 9, 2007, public records request should not be compelled; and

 4. Why the court should not award penalties and costs to the Plaintiff. . . .
CP 326-327.

DOC responded that the surveillance recordings were exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1). CP 295-311. It submitted the declaration Division of Prisons Director Richard Morgan,<sup>10</sup> who asserted that DOC's video surveillence system contained "intelligence information" the non-disclosure of which "is essential to effective law enforcement by DOC, including the effective enforcement of DOC disciplinary regulations." CP 291-292.

DOC also claimed that withholding part of the Internal Investigations report did not violate the PRA, and if it did, the penalty period should be reduced to "the span of time from Mr. Gronquist's constructive notification to the Department through service of summons and complaint . . . and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Moran never viewed the surveillance recordings Gronquist requested. CBCC officials who reviewed the video recordings pursuant to the investigation of the assault testified that the surveillance video came from a single static overhead camera that did not contain any of the special capabilities asserted by Mr. Morgan. Compare CP 77-90 with CP 289-292.

the ultimate disclosure . . . on August 11, 2008 (24 days)." CP 295-311.

On December 18, 2009, the superior court held that DOC violated the PRA by withholding part of the investigatory report, awarding \$15 per-day in penalties for 24 days; and "properly claimed 42.56.240(1) as an exemption . . . [and] properly withheld surveillance video tapes from disclosure pursuant to RCW 42.56.240(1)[.]" CP 125-126.

DOC also filed a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the Article I, Section 5, claim; asserting that courts lack authority to enforce the constitution and DOC possesses unchallengable authority to censor inmate mail under RCW 72.09.530 and <u>Livingston v. Cedeno</u>, 164 Wn.2d 46, 186 P.3d 1055 (2008). CP 118-123. The superior court granted the motion in part; dismissing the facial challenge to DOC's authority to censor public records. CP 98-99.

The assault of Mr. Gronquist resulted in the filing of a separate action for damages. <u>Derek E.</u> <u>Gronquist v. Faye Nicholas, et al</u>., USDC WDWA No. C10-5374 RBL/KLS. Discovery revealed that DOC did not search for, locate, review, or secure the surveillance recordings prior to the show cause

hearing, and had "recorded over [them] in the normal course of business. . . ." CP 54 & 58-59. Discovery also revealed that another Internal Investigations report on staff involvement in the assault had been withheld. CP 80-81.

With this new evidence, Gronquist moved to vacate the December 18, 2009, order. CP 19-96. DOC responded that it is under no legal duty to search for, identify, review, or preserve surveillance recordings. CP 14-17. The superior court denied the motion, holding its previous "[o]rder was correct, in that video recordings are categorically exempt from disclosure." CP 11.

Mr. Gronquist also sought leave to amend his complaint to add a claim that DOC failed to search for the Internal Investigations report on staff involvement in the assault. CP 468-474 & 479-482. The superior court denied the motion, and dismissed the case with prejudice. CP 459-460.

The Court of Appeals affirmed these rulings, as discussed in detail below. Opinion at 6-19.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

RAP 13.4(b) stated that a petition for review may be accepted when the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of this

Court, another decision of the Court of Appeals, presents a significant constitutional question, or contains an issue of significant public interest.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS SUE SPONTE RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF RCW 42.56.565(1) TO AUTHORIZE REDUCTION OF THE PENALTY PERIOD CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT

# In Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152

Wn.2d 421, 98 P.3d 463 (2004, this Court held:

the [PRA] unambiguously requires a penalty 'for each day.' The [PRA] does not contain a provision granting the trial court discretion to reduce the penalty period if it finds the plaintiff could have achived the disclosure of the records in a more timely fashion. . .

#### Yousoufian, 152 Wn.2d at 471.

In this case, the superior court reduced the penalty period from 223 to 24 days. CP 125-126 & 134-136. Gronquist appealed, arguing the superior court was prohibited from reducing the penalty period by <u>Yousoufian</u>. Second Amended Opening Brief at 20-22. The Court of Appeals held:

RCW 42.56.565(1) defeats this argument because (1) DOC did provide him the missing [record] when it became aware of its inadvertent earlier omission from the 96 pages it had timely provided in response to his second PRA request; (2) the superior court expressly found that DOC had not acted in bad faith in having inadvertently omitted this [record]; and (3) RCW 42.56.565(1) prohibits an award of **any** PRA penalties to a prison inmate serving a criminal sentence absent a showing of bad faith. Opinion at 7.

That opinion squarely conflicts with <u>Yousoufian</u> by granting courts discretion to reduce the penalty period.

Moreover, RCW 42.56.565(1) only applies to the "<u>award</u>" of penalties -- not to calculation of the penalty period. The superior court's decision to "award" penalties was not appealed, and left "intact" by the Court of Appeals. Opinion at 9. Nothing in RCW 42.56.565(1) indicates an intent to overrule <u>Yousoufian</u> or permit a reduction to the penalty period after penalties are awarded.

The Court of Appeals application of RCW 42.56.565(1) without notice, for the first time on appeal, conflicts with <u>Franklin County Sheriff's</u> <u>Office v. Parmelee</u>, 175 Wn.2d 476, 481, 285 P.3d 67 (2012) and <u>Clark County v. Western Wash. Growth</u> <u>Management Hearding Rev. Bd</u>., 177 Wn.2d 136, 298 P.3d 704 (2013). <u>Parmelee</u> held that Division Three erred in applying the injunctive provisions of RCW 42.56.565 retroactively for the first time upon appeal. <u>Growth Management</u> prohibited the Court of Appeals from adjudicating a claim that was not raised on appeal and separate and distinct from the issue presented.

Before this appeal, RCW 42.56.565(1) did not exist. Mr. Gronquist was not required to prove bad faith, and there was no need to appeal a finding which had no impact upon this case. If RCW 42.56.565(1) overrules <u>Yousoufian</u>, Mr. Gronquist should have been given the opportunity to present evidence to meet this new element.

> II. THE COURT OF APPEALS HOLDING THAT DOC DID NOT NEED TO SEARCH FOR UNDOCUMENTED ALIEN LABOR RECORDS CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER COURT OF APPEALS

<u>Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane County</u>, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), requires agencies to conduct a search "reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents" responsive to a PRA request. 172 Wn.2d at 720. The agency bears the burden of proving beyond material doubt that its search was adequate. <u>Id</u>., at 721. To do so, the agency must submit a detailed nonconclusory affidavit showing the search terms, the type of search performed, and establishing that "all places likely to contain responsive materials were searched." <u>Id</u>. An inadequate search constitutes a denial of public records. <u>Id</u>.

The Court of Appeals excused DOC's failure to produce such evidence, holding Gronquist "failed

11 to raise this alleged error below," and the "superior court did not err in ruling that Gronquist's request had been for non-existent, or identifiable, records." Opinion at 15.

That holding conflicts with <u>Neighborhood</u> <u>Alliance</u> because it shifts the inquiry from the reasonableness of an agency's search to whether responsive documents actually exist:

> the focus of the inqury is not whether responsive documents do in fact exist, but whether the search itself was adequate.

<u>Neighborhood Alliance</u>, 172 Wn.2d at 720-721; <u>Forbes v. City of Gold Bar</u>, 171 Wn.App. 857, 288 P.3d 384, 388 (2012)(same).

This also conflicts with <u>Bonamy v. City of</u> <u>Seattle</u>, 92 Wn.App. 403, 409-410, 960 P.2d 447 (1998); which held that a PRA request seeks "identifiable" records when there is "a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested records." The distinction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Mr. Gronquist challenged the sufficiency of DOC's search in the superior court. CP 342 § 2 & CP 346-347. This is clear from the superior court's order requiring DOC to show cause why "[a] full and complete search for records responsive to Plaintiff's July 30, 2007, public records request should not be compelled[.]" CP 326-327.

drawn in <u>Bonamy</u> was between a request for "information" versus a request for "records".

Mr. Gronquist's request sought specific, identifiable records which DOC uses daily. See § D(1), supra. DOC concedes that it could locate responsive records if it chose to search:

In order to fulfill his request, the Department would have needed to create a list of all prisoners not citizens of the United States. Next, it would have to determine what prisoners on the list did not have a work visa. Then, it would have needed to cross check the names without work visas with all offenders who work in Class II Industries to determine if there were any prisoners who met the "undocumented alien worker" definition in Mr. Gronquist's PRA request. Finally, it would then have needed to identify any badges/cards or payroll information related to these offenders.

Respondent's Brief at 18.

Rather than search, DOC chose to evade its responsibilities by falsely claiming that records "did not exist" and Mr. Gronquist did not request "identifiable" records. Sustaining such conduct conflicts with <u>Neighborhood Aliiance</u> and renders the PRA's vigorous provisions superfluous.

> III. THE COURT OF APPEALS HOLDING THAT PRISON VIDEO SURVEILLANCE RECORDINGS ARE EXEMPT UNDER RCW 42.56.240(1) CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT

In <u>Prison Legal News v. Department of</u> <u>Corrections</u>, 154 Wn.2d 628, 643, 115 P.3d 316 (2005), this Court held that the internal operations of DOC does not constitute "law enforcement" under RCW 42.56.240(1):

> Were we to accept DOC's definition, investigations of all aspects of DOC operations would be off limits from public disclosure and only by accepting DOC's invitation to define every activity it undertakes as "law enforcement" can we uphold the lower court.

Prison Legal News, 154 Wn.2d at 640.

The Court also rejected DOC's assertion that "all" records could be exempt without determining what information in each record fell within an exemption. <u>Id</u>., at 644-649.

In conflict with <u>Prison Legal News</u>, the Court of Appeals held that internal operations of DOC <u>are</u> "law enforcement" under RCW 42.56.240(1), and DOC video surveillance recordings could be withheld without determining if specific information in the recordings requested fell within the exemption. Opinion at 12.

Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority, 177 Wn.2d 417, 463-464, 300 P.3d 376 (2013), requires agencies to review requested records to determine if an exemption applies. If

an exemption applies, the agency must determine if it is categorical or conditional. If the exemption is conditional, the agency must determine if protected information can be redacted from the record. If it can, the record must be redacted and produced. 177 Wn.2d at 384.

RCW 42.56.240(1) is a conditional exemption. <u>Id</u>., at 463-464. The superior court, however, held RCW 42.56.240(1) "categorically" exempts prison surveillance recordings. CP 11. The Court of Appeals treated RCW 42.56.240(1) as a categorical exemption; overlooking DOC's failure to search for, review, and preserve the recordings. Opinion at 9-12.

Neither DOC, the trial court, nor the Court of Appeals ever viewed the surveillance recordings Gronquist requested, or determined if redaction was possible, contrary to <u>Resident Action Council</u>. Cf. <u>Prison Legal News v. Executive Office for</u> <u>United States</u>, 628 F.3d 1243 (10th Cir. 2011)(effectively redacting prison video recordings to permit disclosure under FOIA).

Affirmance of the denial of Gronquist's motion to vacate this holding conflicts with <u>Olpinski v. Clement</u>, 73 Wn.2d 944, 951, 442 P.2d

260 (1968), because it focused on the presumptive correctness of the exemption ruling rather than DOC's conduct in obtaining a judgment by fraud.

The ruling also conflicts with <u>Neighborhood</u> <u>Alliance</u>, <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 169 Wn.2d 827, 836, 854-856, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), and <u>Rental Housing</u> <u>Association v. Des Moines</u>, 165 Wn.2d 525, 540, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), by permitting DOC to withhold records without searching for them, identifying them, or providing any valid basis for the claimed exemption.

> IV. MR. GRONQUIST'S FREE SPEECH CLAIM RAISED SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTIONS THAT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED UNDER CR 12(B)(6)

This case presents an issue of first impression: Whether Const. Art. I, § 5 prohibits DOC from censoring public records mailed to prisoners. Brief at 37-49. Article I, Section 5, applies to "every person" and includes the right to receive public records. <u>Fritz v. Gorton</u>, 82 Wn.2d 275, 296-297, 517 P.2d 911 (1974). Prior restraints are so offensive that administrative agencies are prohibited from imposing them. <u>Adams v. Hinkle</u>, 51 Wn.2d 763, 322 P.2d 844 (1958); <u>Fine</u> <u>Arts Guild, Inc. v. Seattle</u>, 74 Wn.2d 503, 454 P.2d 602 (1968). Even the judiciary is enjoined,

where "the information sought to be restrained was lawfully obtained, true, and a matter of public record." <u>State v. Coe</u>, 101 Wn.2d 364, 375, 679 P.2d 353 (1984).

But the superior court held that DOC possesses unchallengable authority to censor inmate mail under RCW 72.09.530 and <u>Livingston v.</u> <u>Cedeno</u>, 164 Wn.2d 46, 186 P.3d 1055 (2008). CP 98-99 & 118-123. The Court of Appeals affirmed.<sup>12</sup> Opinion at 17-19. <u>Livingston</u>, however, only held that DOC's censorship of public records did not violate <u>the PRA</u>. 164 Wn.2d at 55-56. The rulings also failed to follow the standard of review for a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal required by <u>Bravo v. Dolsen</u> <u>Co.</u>, 125 Wn.2d 745, 750, 888 P.2d 147 (1995)

Submited this 26th day of December, 2013.

nongusto

Derek Grenquist #943857 Coyote Ridge Corr. Center P.O. Box 769 Connell, WA 99326

12 Contrary to the Court of Appeals holding, the complaint presented two claims: to enjoin censorship of <u>the public records at issue</u>; and "a prospective injunction" to enjoin DOC from censoring "<u>any</u> public record". CP 325 §§ B & C. The later claim was dismissed under CR 12(b)(6), properly appealed, and not abandoned or moot. CP 98-99 & 100. CP 325.