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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court Of Appeals Application Of RCW 42.56.565(1)'s 
Prohibition Of PRA Penalties To A Prison Inmate Serving A 
Criminal Sentence Absent A Showing Of Bad Faith Neither 
Conflicts With Any Decision Of This Court Nor A Decision By 
The Court Of Appeals 

The Court of Appeals correctly applied RCW 42.56.565(1)'s bar 

against inmates receiving penalties under the PRA unless the court finds 

the agency acted in "bad faith" in denying inspection or copying of a 

public record. Mr. Granquist does not directly address this determination. 

Instead, he attempts to elude the subject and argues RCW 42.56.565(1) 

was applied retroactively while conflicting with this Court's decision in 

Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.2d 421, 98 P.3d 463 (2004). 

Petition, at 12-14. 

However, Mr. Granquist's argument is meritless. The appellate 

court's decision does not conflict with Yousoufian because Yousoufian 

does not apply. Additionally, the court did not apply the statute 

retroactively because the record clearly shows his case did not reach a 

final judgment prior July 22, 2011, as required by RCW 42.56.565. 

Therefore, the court properly determined his penalty challenge was barred 

because the superior court found that the Department did not act in bad 

faith when it inadvertently withheld one page during disclosure. 
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RCW 42.56.565 expressly states that "[a] court shall not award 

penalties under RCW 42.56.550(4) to a person who was serving a criminal 

sentence in a state, local, or privately operated correctional facility on the 

date the request for public records was made, unless the court finds that 

the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to 

inspect or copy a public record." RCW 42.56.565(1). The legislature 

further specified that the section "applies to all actions brought under 

42.56.550 in which a final judgment has not been entered as of July 22, 

2011." RCW 42.56.565 (as amended by Laws of2011, ch. 300, § 2}. 

The court determined the legislature's use of the term "final 

judgment" was broad and meant a "judgment that ends all litigation, 

including appellate review, leaving nothing for the court to do but to 

execute the judgment." Granquist, at 8. Mr. Granquist's claims were not 

decided by a final judgment prior to the statute going into effect1
. The 

superior court's was correct in finding the withholding was not done in 

bad faith precluded review of superior court's penalty determination 

because Mr. Granquist was not entitled to any amount of PRA penalties. 

1 A fmal judgment was entered on April25, 2012; Judge Wood signed an order 
finalizing dismissal of Mr. Gronquist's last remaining claim while dismissing Mr. 
Gronquist's motion for leave to amend his complaint. CP 448. Although the trial court 
issued orders on Mr. Gronquist's PRA claims in December 2009 and January 2011, the 
trial court's April 2012 modification to its February 2012 order was the fmal appealable 
judgment in this case because it disposed of the final remaining claim from Mr. 
Gronquist's First Amended Complaint. See CP 444-45; CP 448; CP 323-24. 
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Granquist, at 9. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision does not 

present a conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals' decisions 

within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

B. The Court of Appeals Determination That "Undocumented 
Alien Workers" records asked for nonexistent, Unidentifiable 
Records under RCW 42.56.080 Neither Conflicts With Any 
Decision Of This Court Nor A Decision By The Court of 
Appeals 

The Court of Appeals correctly determined Mr. Granquist's 

request for "undocumented alien records" in the Department's Class II 

Industries program did not seek identifiable records. Mr. Granquist argues 

the Department did not adequately search for records. Petition, at 14-15. 

However, the Court of Appeals informed Mr. Granquist his attempt to 

raise this issue on appeal for the fist time was improper and would not be 

addressed. Granquist, at 15. 

Instead, the Court correctly determined the record showed the 

requested records did not exist. Granquist, at 13-15. The PRA does not 

require the agency to research or explain its records but only to make 

those records accessible to the public. Smith v. Okanogan County, 100 

Wn. App. 7, 12, 994 P.2d 857 (2000). An agency has no duty to create or 

produce a record that is nonexistent. West v. Washington State Dep 't of 

Natural Res., 163 Wn. App. 235, 242, 258 P.3d 78 (2011), review denied, 

173 Wn.2d 1020, 272 P.3d 850 (2012); see also Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 
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136 Wn.2d 595, 604, 963 P.2d 869 (1998) (the PRA does not provide "a 

right to citizens to indiscriminately sift through an agency's files in search 

of records or information which cannot be reasonably identified or 

ascribed to the agency"). 

The record clearly established the records did not exist in the form 

requested because the Department did not identify offenders by 

citizenship, nor is offender citizenship part of the Correctional Industries 

employment process. CP 248. Mr. Granquist cannot cite to anything in 

the record to refute this fact. See Petition, at 15-16. Instead, he continues 

to maintain the Department should have researched its records to respond 

to his request. Petition, at 16. This is not sufficient to refute the superior 

court's factual finding that there were no identifiable records as requested. 

Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision does not present a conflict with 

any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals' decisions within the meaning of 

RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2). 

C. The Court Of Appeals' Determination That Prison Video 
Surveillance Videos Are Exempt From Disclosure Under RCW 
42.56.240(1) When The Videos Are Found To Be Specific 
Intelligence Information And The Nondisclosure Of The 
Videos Is Essential To Effective Law Enforcement Neither 
Conflicts With Any Decision Of This Court Nor A Decision By 
The Court Of Appeals 

The Court of Appeals correctly determined Mr. Granquist's 

request for prison surveillance videos were exempt under RCW 
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42.56.240(1). Mr. Granquist argues that the court's decision conflicts 

with Prison Legal News, Inc. v. Dep 't of Corrections, 154 Wn.2d 628, 115 

P .3d 316 (2005) prohibition of "general" exemptions. Petition, at 17. 

However, as stated by the Court of Appeals, Prison Legal News is not 

controlling. Granquist, at 11 n.l4. Unlike in Prison Legal News, the 

Department met its burden in showing that the nondisclosure of prison 

surveillance videos was "essential to effective law enforcement." !d. 

Therefore, Mr. Granquist's reliance on Prison Legal News is 

unpersuasive. 

Under RCW 42.56.240(1), an investigative, law enforcement, or 

penology agency must have compiled the "[ s ]pecific intelligence 

information and specific investigative records" that the requester seeks. 

Secondly, the agency must show that the "nondisclosure" of the 

information is "essential to effective law enforcement." RCW 

42.56.240(1). The record contains ample evidence that prison video 

surveillance recordings meet this exception. 

Mr. Granquist did not contend the Department was not a la~ 

enforcement agency. Additionally, the record provided ample evidence 

that providing inmates with access to recordings of the prison's 

surveillance videos would allow prisoners to exploit weaknesses in its 

surveillance system. The Court looked to Division One's holding that 
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"intelligence information provided by video surveillance systems ... falls 

squarely within the core definitions of 'law enforcement,"' thereby 

exempting surveillance video recordings from disclosure under RCW 

42.56.240(1). Fischer v. Wash. State Dep't of Carr., 160 Wn. App. 722, 

727-28, 254 P.3d 824, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1001, 257 P.3d 666 

(2011). The record was consistent with the ruling in Fischer and there 

was no error in concluding that the surveillance video recordings were 

exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1). Therefore, the Court of Appeals' 

decision does not present a conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of 

Appeals' decisions within the meaning ofRAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2). 

D. The Court Of Appeals Decision Dismissing Mr. Gronquist's 
Article I, Section 5 Claims Because He Abandoned Them In 
The Superior Court Or Attempted To Raise Them For The 
First Time On Appeal Does Not Raise A Significant Question 
Of Law Under The Constitution 

The Court of Appeals correctly determined Mr. Granquist's article 

I, section 5 claims were abandoned in the superior court prior to appeal 

and/or were raised for the first time on appeal. Mr. Gronquist argues his 

case presents an issue of first impression. Petition, at 1'9. However, he 

does not contest the Court of Appeals' determination that he failed to 

preserve or even raise these issues in the trial court. Petition, at 19-20. 

Moreover, he does not contest the Court of Appeals' determination that his 

claims are moot even if he had properly preserved them. Petition, at 19-
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20. Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly declined to address issues 

that were moot, abandoned, or raised for the first time on appeal and Mr. 

Gronquist has not raised a significant question of law under the 

Constitution. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals' unanimous decision affirming the superior 

court's dismissal of Mr. Gronquist's claims is carefully reasoned, entirely 

consistent with the Public Records Act, and correctly interprets and applies 

statutory and case law. None of the criteria for accepting review in RAP 

13.4(b) are satisfied. Therefore, this Court should deny Mr. Gronquist's 

petition for review.